70609-8

No. 70609-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

JAMES ENGLE, an individual, Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

JAY DEE MILLER and his separate property only, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT The Honorable Joseph Wilson, Trial Judge

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S REVISED OPENING

BRIEF

JOHN R. MUENSTER Attorney at Law, WSBA No. 6237 MUENSTER AND KOENIG 14940 Sunrise Drive N.E. Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 Telephone: (206)467-7500 Email: jrmuenster@muensterkoenig.com Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

i

I. INTRODUCTION

This lawsuit was brought by James Engle, an Everett-area criminal, for damages allegedly sustained in September, 2009 when he received two superficial gunshot graze wounds. Mr. Miller was convicted of assault in the matter. He is serving a prison sentence.

The undisputed medical records submitted in this non-jury trial showed that the wounds were superficial. The trial judge awarded \$145,000.00 in general damages, an amount *16.4 times greater* than the total medical costs of \$8,837.00 The size of the award is not supported by sufficient evidence. This appeal followed.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR:

The trial judge erred by awarding \$145,000 in general damages.

Issues Pertaining to the Assignment of Error:

(1) After the incident, in the ER, the plaintiff had two graze wounds, one to his neck and one to the back of

his right shoulder. He reported no neck pain, chest pain or nausea. He had no neurologic symptoms. No surgery was done. He was discharged from the hospital the next day. Does the record support a general damages award *16.4 times greater* than the medical costs/specials?

(2) What is the appellate standard of review for a general damages award in a one-day non-jury trial where the ER 904 evidence of injury consists of a packet of records of the plaintiff's one-day stay in the hospital?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The complaint filed by plaintiff Engle sought damages arising from two graze gunshot wounds incurred during an incident in defendant Jay Miller's home. CP 27-35. Mr. Miller was prosecuted, asserted self-defense, was convicted at trial, and sentenced. The conviction was affirmed. *See State v. Miller*, 161 Wash.App. 1011, 2011 WL 1459805.

The civil case was defended and went to trial.¹ The trial was non-jury. No medical witness testified. The medical records for the plaintiff's one night stay in the hospital were considered pursuant to ER 904. CP 14-15, SCP² (Plaintiff's medical records, Exhibit 5, index pages 00001-000089, Sub. No.34). Those medical records state in pertinent part:

(1) Upon admission to the ER on 9-2-2009, the plaintiff had a graze gunshot wound "which does not seem to violate the skull." Report of Dr. Paul H. Kim, M.D. CP 14.³

(2) He has "another graze injury gunshot wound to the back of the right shoulder." CP 14.

(3) "Medics states [sic] very stable and doesn't fit any Trauma Criteria." SCP (Plaintiff's medical records,

"SCP" refers to the Supplemental Clerk's Papers.

2

¹ Summary judgment on the medical costs--\$8837.00 was granted. CP 18-20. That ruling is not at issue in this appeal.

³ For the Court's convenience, a copy of Dr. Kim's ER report (Index pages 000010-11, CP 14-15) is attached as Appendix A herein.

Exhibit 5, index page 000015, Sub. No.34). There was "No neck pain. No loss of consciousness. No nausea, no vomiting. No abdominal pain, no chest pain, no shortness of breath... No neurologic symptoms." CP 14.

(4) "He has full range of motion, x-rays are also negative. He is neurovascularly intact distally." CP 14.

(5) A CT scan was performed. "No intracranial foreign bodies noted. No skull fracture or defects were noted." No surgical intervention was made. CP 14.

(6) The two wounds, both measuring 1.5 cm, were closed. CP 14.

(7) The plaintiff declined to list any emergency contact or relatives. He was not employed. SCP (Plaintiff's medical records, Exhibit 5, index page 000007, Sub. No.34)

(8) A history of depression, schizophrenia and cocaine abuse was noted. SCP (Plaintiff's medical records, Exhibit 5, index page 000016, Sub. No.34).

(9) The nursing assessment: neuro stated that the plaintiff is "alert and oriented x 3." "Motor strength to all extremities are [sic] strong and equal." SCP (Plaintiff's medical records, Exhibit 5, index page 000017, Sub.

No.34).

(10) The nursing assessment primary survey stated: "Patient's breathing is normal. . . Patient's circulation intact throughout with normal capillary refill time, Patient's skin normal, warm and dry without hemorrhage noted. Patient is alert and oriented to person, place and time. Patient remembers events and denies loss of consciousness, cooperative and emotionally controlled."

SCP (Plaintiff's medical records, Exhibit 5, index page 000017, Sub. No.34).

(11) The nursing assessment secondary survey stated:

Evaluation of head and face includes, Head pain, Neck is atramatic. C-spine is non-tender. Denies neck pain, Patient's chest is atraumatic with normal expansion and no crepitus. Heart sounds normal. Denies pain to chest, Patient's breath sounds are clear and equal bilaterally, Patient's abdomen is soft, non-distended, and non-tender. Bowel sounds are present in 4 quadrants. Denies pain to abdomen . . . Denies pain to pelvis, Patient's back is atraumatic and nontender. Denies pain to back, . . . Color is normal. Temperature is normal. Radial pulse present, Patient states pain to shoulder, appears to be GSW grazing to right shoulder, Patient's lower extremities atraumatic with CMS intact. No deformities or pain to extremities noted.

SCP (Plaintiff's medical records, Exhibit 5, index page 000017-18, Sub. No.34).

(12) The 9-3-2009 discharge summary lists the diagnoses as: (1) a superficial GSW to the head; (2) a superficial GSW to the right shoulder; (3) depression; (4) schizophrenia; and (5) substance abuse. SCP (Plaintiff's medical records, Exhibit 5, index page 000009, Sub. No.34).

The trial court awarded \$145,000.00 in general damages. CP 6-8 (Judgment). No separate findings of fact or conclusions of law were entered. This appeal followed. CP 1-5.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT: GIVEN THE RECORD, THE</u> <u>AWARD OF \$145,000.00 FOR GENERAL DAMAGES</u> <u>SHOULD BE REVERSED.</u>

A. The Standard Of Review

This is an appeal from a one-day non-jury trial. The

trial court considered ER 904 documents, which included the medical records of the plaintiff's one day stay in the hospital, described above.⁴

Case law and a statute discuss the standard of review when a remittitur of a *jury's* damage award is sought. *See* RCW 4.76.030.

> Bingaman Bingaman v. Grays Harbor Cmty. Hosp., 103 Wash.2d 831, 699 P.2d 1230 (1985)] clearly rule stated the for appellate remittiturs: "An appellate court will not disturb an award of damages made by a jury unless it is outside the range of substantial evidence in the record, or shocks the conscience of the court, or appears to have been arrived at as the result of passion or prejudice." 103 Wash.2d at 835, 699 P.2d 1230. This rule has not changed.

⁴ The ER 904 packet also included: (1) the state's sentencing memorandum, (2) the judgment and sentence, (3) the criminal case verdict form, (4) a doctor's declaration that the medical expenses incurred (\$8,837.00) were reasonable, and (5) the summary judgment order on the medical expenses.

See, e.g., Stevens v. Gordon, 118 Wash.App. 43, 54, 74 P.3d 653 (2003). This specific language does not mention any deference to the trial court and may suggest de novo review.

Bunch v. King County, 155 Wash.2d 165, 175, 116 P.3d 381 (2005) (emphasis added) (discussing case law and RCW 4.76.030).

The standard of review seems to be different if the appellate court is considering the amount of damages awarded in a non-jury trial. "[I]n *Malstrom v. Kalland*, 62 Wash.2d 732, 738–39, 384 P.2d 613 (1963), we remitted a trial judge's award of damages because the facts did not support it." *Bunch*, 155 Wash.2d at 174. The *Malstrom* court's decisional paragraph stated: "Having reviewed the record, considered the facts found, and applied the rules discussed, we do not find the facts sufficiently persuasive to support the \$50,000 valuation placed upon the injury by the trial court." *Malstrom*, 62 Wash.2d at 738.

In this case, the appellate court is in almost the same position as the trial judge sitting non-jury. This is so because "[f]ixing the amount of damages is actually a

conclusional finding based upon preliminary findings that certain damages were sustained." *Malstrom*, 62 Wash.2d at 736.

Appellant contends that review of the trial judge's *valuation* of the general damages here should be *de novo*. In the alternative, if this court does not apply the *de novo* standard, then we contend that this Court should determine whether the facts in the record support the amount selected by the trial judge. *See Malstrom*, 62 Wash2d at 738; *Bunch*, 155 Wash.2d at 174. The principle of proportionality between special and general damages should play a role here.

B. <u>The Record Does Not Support The \$145,000 General</u> <u>Damages Award</u>.

The plaintiff was in the hospital overnight. The medical costs were \$8,837.00. *The general damages award is 16.4 times larger than the special damages amount.*

The record does not disclose why the trial judge

picked a general damages figure so disproportionate to the specials. When seen at the hospital, the plaintiff denied pain in almost all of his body. He did not exhibit emotional distress. The wounds were described as "graze wounds" or as "superficial", 1.5 cm in size. No body structure, such as an organ, a bone, or a muscle, was damaged.

It is true that the wounds came from gunshots. The firing of the gunshots is being addressed in the criminal justice system. The award of general damages here is for compensation for injury, not some other purpose. The record does not contain sufficient evidence to support the valuation of the general damages at over 16 times the total medical costs.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the award of \$145,000.00 for general damages should be reversed.