I. ISSUES 

Appellant's opening brief essentially raises two issues. First, what 

is the appropriate level of deference an appellate court should afford to the 

trial court when deciding remittitur issues? Secondly, whether the Court of 

Appeals should reduce the trial court's award of noneconomic damages 

because it thinks the award unsupported by evidence, the result of passion 

and prejudice, and shocking to its conscience. 

II. ARGUMENT 

THE A WARD OF NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES DOES NOT 
APPEAR TO BE THE RESULT OF PASSION OR PREJUDICE, IS 
NOT SO FLAGRANTLY OUTRAGEOUS AS TO SHOCK THE 
CONSCIENCE, NOR IS IT OUTSIDE THE REALM OF 
SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE ON THE RECORD. 

A. The Standard of Review 

Washington law is clear in articulating that abuse of discretion is the 

appropriate standard of review when contemplating appellate remittiturs of 

an award of damages. This standard remains the same whether the fact 

finder that awarded the damages took the form of a jury or, as in the case 

before this Court, the form of a trial court judge presiding over a bench trial. 

"Whether the amount of a damage award is reasonable is a question 

of fact, which we review for abuse of discretion." Harmony v. 

Madison, 143 Wn.App. 345, 358, 177 P.3d 755 (2009). 
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The Washington Supreme Court defined this standard and set forth 

the clear rule for appellate remittiturs in Bingaman v. Grays Harbor 

Community Hospital, 103 Wn.2d 831 , 699 P .2d 1230 (1985): 

An appellate court will not disturb an award of damages made by a 
jury unless it is outside the range of substantial evidence in the 
record, or shocks the conscience of the court, or appears to have 
been arrived at as the result of passion or prejudice. 

Bingaman, id., at 835. 

Moreover, the Court has extended this standard of review to cases in 

which the trial court judge sits as the fact finder rather than a jury. 

An appellate court will not disturb an award of damages made by 
the fact finder unless it is outside the range of substantial evidence in 
the record, shocks the conscience, or appears to have been arrived at 
as the result of passion of prejudice. (Emphasis added.) 

224 Westlake, LLC v. Engstrom Properties, LLC, 169 Wn.App. 700, 729, 
281 P.3d 693 (2012), citing, Mason v. Mortg. Am., Inc., 114 Wn.2d 842, 
849, 792 P.2d 142 (1990). 

Despite clear case law articulating an abuse of discretion standard of 

review, appellant contends that review of the trial judge's valuation of 

general damages should be de novo. However, case law is clear that the 

statutory standard of review (de novo) applies only when a trial court 

actually remits an award. A trial court order remitting a jury's award of 

damages is reviewed de novo as it substitutes the court's finding on a 

question of fact. When a trial court remits an award it invades the 

constitutional province of the jury, making the less deferential standard of 
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review appropriate. RCW 4.76.030; Bunch v. King County, 155 Wn.2d 165, 

176, 116 P.3d 381 (2005). Since there was no remittitur by the trial court, de 

novo review is not appropriate in this case. 

The issue thus becomes whether the size of the award for general 

damages is outside the range of substantial evidence in the record, shocks 

the conscience of the court, or was the result of passion or prejudice. Stated 

another way, were the damages flagrantly outrageous and extravagant? 

Bingaman, id., at 837. 

B. The trial court's award of $145,000 in general damages is 

fair and reasonable. 

Appellant attempts to oversimplify this case by relying solely on a 

multiplication of the medical expenses to illustrate an abuse of discretion by 

the trial court judge. Tellingly, this position is not supported by law. 

However, settled case law is clear in that " ... a verdict does not carry its own 

death warrant solely by reason of its size." Bunch, id., at 183. 

Instead, Washington case law illustrates that the proper approach is 

to analyze the facts of the case under the "abuse of discretion" standard, 

clarified by the three-pronged test as set forth in Bingaman. Bingaman, id., 

at 836. 

First, giving proper deference to the trial court judge as the fact 

finder in this case, the award for non-economic damages was within the 
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range of substantial evidence presented in the trial. Large medical bills are 

not necessary to substantiate evidence of anguish and distress. Such 

evidence can be provided by the plaintiffs own testimony. Bunch, id., at 

181 . It is up to the jury, or in the case at bar the trial court judge, to weigh 

the credibility of the witness and determine the amount of mental anguish 

and distressed involved. 

In the case before this Court, the trial court was satisfied by a 

preponderance of evidence and by witness testimony that the 

plaintiff/respondent was damaged by the shooting. The court was satisfied 

that the plaintiff/respondent suffers from migraines, experiences "white 

flashes," has a heightened level of distrust and nervousness, has generally 

withdrawn from daily activities, and has suffered the physical damages 

related to the scarring. CP 39. These conclusions were drawn not only from 

medical records, but from witness testimony taken in front of the fact finder. 

The trial court judge, acting as the fact-finder, was in the position to hear the 

testimony, assess credibility, and assign weight to the testimony. Therefore, 

it is clear that the award was based on and within a range of substantial 

evidence presented at the trial. 

Second, it is the respondent's position that the award is not so 

flagrantly outrageous and extravagant as to shock the conscience of the 

court. The honorable trial judge based the general damage award upon his 
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"experience in these cases and review of other similar cases .... " CP 39. As 

the trial judge is experienced in presiding over civil tort cases and routinely 

sees such cases, there is no reason to believe that the award of $145,000 is 

flagrantly outrageous and extravagant. 

Lastly, there is no evidence in the record to suggest that the general 

damages award was a result of passion or prejudice. Again, the trial court 

judge routinely presides over civil tort cases and is experienced in hearing a 

variety of cases involving negligent acts and intentional torts and the harm 

that results from those acts. Nothing in the record gives any indication that 

the award was influenced by passion or prejudice. 

As explained above, the size of the verdict is within a wide range of 

evidence presented at trial, is not so flagrantly outrageous as to shock the 

conscience, and was not made under the grip of passion or prejudice. In 

sum, the appellant has failed to meet the very high burden of showing that 

the trial court judge abused his discretion when acting as the fact finder. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For each of the reasons stated herein, the appellant's request that the 

general damages award be reversed should be denied, and the Court should 

dismiss this appeal.